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Mennonite historians have long
puzzled over the history of the late 18th
and early 19th century Mennonites in
Upper Canada. The settlement around
the future Waterloo County prospered,
but the Pennsylvania German Menno-
nite settlements on the Niagara Penin-
sula struggled and were overwhelmed
by the end of the 20th century except
for small remnants around Vineland
and Stevensville. Harold Nigh talked to
our Society in 1986 of'the “Lost Tribes
of the Niagara Plain Folk.”!

Most often the weakness of the
Niagara settlements has been attributed
to a combination of poor leadership or
internal disagreement on how to inter-
sect with the larger culture. Both L. J.
Burkholder and Frank Epp followed
this approach.

I believe Mennonite historians have
not adequately considered the varied
religious renewal movements within
the German-speaking communities,
and their impact on the Mennonite
settlements of Upper Canada. The
ecarliest divisions in Mennonite Upper
Canada long preceded the better known
schisms of the 1870s and 1880s.

The Faith of 18th Century
Pennsylvania Mennonites

Eighteenth century Pennsylvania
Mennonites did not live in separatist
enclaves like their Old Order descen-
dents. They interacted regularly with
their German-speaking Lutheran,
Reformed and Moravian neighbors,
and their shared Pennsylvania German
culture shaped their daily life as well as
their church life.

In the second half of the 18th
century Pennsylvania Mennonites
were completing their transition from
the persecution sell-identity that had

This cairn stands at the Bertie Brethren in
Christ Church in memory of Bishop John
Winger whe died in 1828, the founder and
first bishop of the Brethren in Christ Church
in Canada. The original gravesite is along
Black Creek, east of Stevensvitle. (Mennonite
Archives of Ontario collection 2000-1.83)

shaped their European experience, and
sharply contrasted to the prosperity and
individualism of their first generations
in North America. They still sang from
the Ausbund, with its martyr hymns
and clear emphasis on separation from
the world, but they also read the Pietist
literature they brought from Europe
and began to reprint in North Ameri-
ca.2 This made them more receptive to
the Pietistic renewal movements that
flourished both in English and German
speaking America.

The Revolutionary War (1775-1783)
caught Pennsylvania Mennonites un-
prepared in the midst of their prosper-
ity. This was also a time of spiritual
“drought” among the traditional Men-
nonites. Applicants for membership in
Mennonite churches, who may have
experienced an emotional conversion
in a traveling evangelist’s revival
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service or in a prayer meeting held
in a neighbour’s home, were dismayed
to find that Mennonite leaders remained
more interested in teaching them about
rules and regulations than hearing about
their conversion.>

Three non-Mennonite renewal
movements found their way into the
German-speaking areas of Upper Can-
ada—the Tunkers (also known as River
Brethren or Brethren in Christ), the
United Brethren in Christ (sometimes
called Brethren), and the Evangelical
Association (Evangelicals or German
Methodists). The earliest “internal”
Mennonite renewal movement also had
an enormous impact on the Mennonite
community that emerged on the Niag-
ara Peninsula—John Herr’s Reformed
Mennonite group (also known as Her-
rites or “New” Mennonites.# All of the
Lancaster County renewal movements
had their roots in European Pietism,
although in the 21st century we do not
generally think of the Reformed Men-
nonite Church in Pietistic terms.”

What was Pietism?0

Classical Pietism emerged in 17th
century Germany following the Thirty
Years War. It influenced all the ma-
jor European Protestant traditions—
Lutherans, Reformed, and Anabaptist.
Dale Brown, who has written exten-
sively on Pietism, lists some compo-
nents of Pietist theology: 1) an empha-
sis on God’s love for humanity, rather
than on God’s wrath; 2) turning the
church from rigid top-down doctrine,
toward a very active laity (priesthood of
all believers); 3) emphasis on the Bible,
including devotional study in small
groups led by lay leaders; 4) living a
daily life that matched one’s Christian
faith; and 5) an emphasis on personal
conversion and a new birth, a “theol-
ogy of expcriencc."7 Pietism reduced
emphasis on propositional doctrines as
they might be expressed in a confession
of faith, and placed more reliance on
the Holy Spirit for spiritual enlighten-
ment. Although the local church com-
munity remained important, inevitably

Pietism shifted the emphasis from the
visible church toward the individual’s
personal relationship with God.

One practical outcome of Pietist
emphases was an increased spirit of tol-
eration and religious freedom, with the
emergence of an “invisible” church that
spanned the Protestant denominations.
Sometimes this lowered view of the
institutional church led to a decreased
emphasis on the sacraments as prac-
ticed in a particular denomination.

The central feature of all the Penn-
sylvania German renewal groups was
the need for an explicitly personal
experience of the “new birth”™ in Christ.
With this new birth came an assurance
that one’s sins were forgiven. For some
leaders, 1f there was a doubt about
one’s salvation, it was clear evidence
that you was not saved. “If you have
it [salvation], you can tell when and
where you got it.”

Some articulate, but more tradition-
al. Mennonite leaders were dismayed
by the religious chaos that the renewal
movements generated in their churches.
Christian Burkholder (1746-1809), a
Lancaster County Mennonite minis-
ter and bishop, spoke approvingly of
the “new birth,” but said he could not
dictate to God how to create this new
birth in others. For Burkholder, boast-
ing of one’s “new birth” reflected the
influence of the “old man,” not the new
follower’s salvation in Christ.”

We’ll turn now to a brief review of
each of the renewal movements that
also became part of the Mennonite
community in Welland County.

River Brethren / Tunkers!?

The first renewal group to influence
the early Upper Canadian Mennonites
was the River Brethren or Tunkers.
The River Brethren emerged in the late
1770s around the leadership of Jacob
Engel (c1753-1833), who arrived as an
infant in Pennsylvania with his Men-
nonite parents. The most prominent
founders of the River Brethren ap-
peared to have Mennonite roots.

The River Brethren were first
influenced by Martin Boehm, a for-

mer Mennonite bishop who became

a founder of the United Brethren in
Christ movement. However the River
Brethren wanted to retain Mennonite
doctrines not emphasized by Boehm
(like nonresistance, non-taking of
oaths, not holding government office,
etc.). The developing Boehm group
also placed no emphasis on a particular
baptismal form, an ordinance that was
important to the new group. Some-
time in the late 1770s a group of River
Brethren leaders baptized one another
and began the formation of a new de-
nomination. !

The River Brethren were the first
of the renewal groups to fully “orga-
nize” as an identifiable denominational
group. Of the non-Mennonite groups
they were also the most theologically
compatible with the Mennonites be-
cause of the core values they retained in
their confession. They were likely also
less flamboyant than some of the other
groups in their worship and the revival
style of their services.

United Brethren in Christ!2

Martin Boehm (1725-1812) was the
youngest son of a Mennonite immi-
grant to Pennsylvania in 1717 who had
been a Pietist in Europe before joining
the Mennonites. Martin was ordained
by lot as a Mennonite minister in
Lancaster County at the age of 30. He
struggled as a preacher, however, and
believed this struggle cast doubt on the
state of his personal salvation. Boehm
later said he was “lost,” a concept that
came from Pietism, not from his Men-
nonite roots. Boehm subsequently had
a dramatic conversion while plowing in
the fields. This experience changed his
life and enlivened his preaching, and
his story of conversion and subsequent
assurance of salvation spread into the
Mennonite community. 3

Boehm maintained his Mennonite
leadership role for some years, and was
even ordained as a Mennonite bishop in
1761.14 He preached to audiences that
went beyond his own denomination. A
famous 1767 meeting in Landis Val-
ley, Lancaster County, found Boehm
preaching to a crowd of a thousand




people that included the well-known
Reformed minister, Philip Wilhelm Ot-
terbein (1726-1813). After the sermon
Otterbein came forward, embraced
Boehm, and said, “We are Brethren.”
This was later seen as the seminal
moment in the formation of the United
Brethren denomination. 13

Since Otterbein and Boehm came
from traditions with vastly differ-
ing understandings of baptism—the
Reformed sprinkled infants, the Men-
nonites poured on adults—and other
leaders in the emerging group came
from an immersion background, the
United Brethren from the beginning
allowed flexibility in the mode and
age of baptism.1

Martin Boehm did not with-
draw as a Mennonite minister, but
eventually the Lancaster Mennonite
Conference expelled him as a Men-
nonite leader, likely in 1777 after
the requirement of a “test oath™ by
the new Revolutionary Govern-
ment. The other Mennonite bishops
felt Boehm consorted too freely
with religious leaders who neither
held to nonresistance nor preached
against taking the oath. 17

The United Brethren remained
informally structured through the
1790s, but regular annual meetings of
the ministers with minutes of decisions
began to be kept in 1800. Thus 1800 13
often regarded as the semi-structured
beginning of the United Brethren in
Christ, though they still regarded them-
selves as nonsectarian. | 8 This non-
sectarian spirit meant United Brethren
ministers spoke frequently in Men-
nonite, Baptist, Lutheran, Methodist
and Reformed churches, and is crucial
in explaining the impact of the United

Brethren on Mennonites.

The United Brethren encouraged
emotional expression in their revival
meetings— with crying, shouting, and
singing. There could also be physical
emotional release through jumping or
leaping around the room. This spiritual
expression was an attraction for some
observers, and a sign of superficiality to
others. 19

Evangelical Association2?
Jacob Albright (1759-1808) was
born as a Lutheran near Pottsdown,
Pennsylvania, but moved to Lancaster

This building replaced the log church at Black Creek.
It was moved and dismantled in 1914, (Mennonite
Archives of Ontario collection 1983-1.24)

County after marriage. In 1790 the Al-
bright family lost several children to ill-
ness; this tragedy threw Jacob Albright
into spiritual despair, Finally i 1792
with the assistance of a United Brethren
lay minister he experienced conver-
sion. Although he maintained friendly
relations with the United Brethren, he
was not comfortable with their relaxed
approach to discipline and to church
ordinances like baptism. He initially af-
filiated with the new English-language
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Methodist denomination, and began a
Bible “class™ in his community. He did
so well that the Methodists licensed
him as an “exhorter.”2 1
Albright began preaching in 1796
in any Protestant setting that would
receive him. The Evangelical Associa-
tion first organized in 1800 with the
formation ot three “classes™ follow-
ing a Methodist model. Albright was
ordained as a minister in the new group
in 1803, and effectively acted as its
I:Jishop.22
Evangelical Association worship
services also featured occasions of
dramatic emotional display, though
Albright himself was said to be
more reserved in worship style, if
not in his confrontational preach-
ing. It was not uncommon for
repentant sinners to be crying for
mercy at the end of his messages.?‘3

Reformed Mennonite Church

The last of the renewal groups to
coalesce was the Retormed Men-
nonite Church. John Herr (1782-
185()) was the son of Francis Herr,
a Lancaster County farmer. Francis
Herr withdrew from the Mennonite
Church in the 1790s. In his view,
the Mennonites did not adequately
maintain traditional Mennonite doc-
trine. Frances Herr began to meet in
his home with a group of family and
friends for worship, preaching and
prayer. He preached in a seated posi-
tion since he recognized he was not an

24

ordained minister.
The form of Herr’s meetings was
remarkably like the “classes” initiated by
the other Lancaster County Pietist groups,
and Herr’s role was similar to that of the

~ Continued on page 4 ~
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“exhorter” in the emerging United
Brethren and Evangelical communities.

During the vears of these house
meetings. teenager John Herr, in a typi-
cal Pietistic manner, experienced deep
emotional concern about the state of his
salvation. He called on God for mercy
but felt his prayer unheard. He also
feared for the salvation of his brothers
and sisters. Later in an autobiographi-
cal essay he recounted experiences of
accident and illness and the death of
his brother-in-law that underscored his
awareness of his state of sin. Around
1810 afler a series of personal crises,
John Herr finally achieved a sense of
personal salvation.

Herr and a small group continued
to meet privately for worship, but
in 1812 they organized and elected
Herr to be minister. A member of the
group baptized him and he assumed
the leadership of the group. Herr was a
charismatic and influential speaker, and
his movement was more dynamic and
engaged with the larger society than his
more traditional Mennonite contempo-
raries. The Reformed Mennonites were
more “urban” than other Mennonite
groups, and attracted more doctors and
cducators in its first decades than the
Lancaster Conference Mennonites. 20

Herr did not associate with other re-
newal groups because he believed they
did not maintain consistency in their
Christian lives. For Herr true disciple-
ship reflected the new birth and was
more important than dramatic testimo-
nies about one’s conversion, though
his own autobiography provided that
dramatic type of testimony. Herr did
not “fellowship™ with other churches.
This term generally meant not taking
the Lord’s Supper with members of
other churches. [ suspect the practice of
not attending the services of, or pray-
ing with, persons outside the Reformed
Mennonite Church was not an original
doctrinal position, but developed over
time as a defensive mechanism.

Ontario Mennonite lay historian, J.C.
Fretz, quoted an old aphorism about

the relationship of the
United Brethren and the
Reformed Mennonites, “It
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Early Immigrants to
Welland County

We’ll now look briefly at the earliest
Anabaptists who arrived on the Niagara
Peninsula, particularly in what became
Welland County. We won’t dwell on the
1786 settlers at “The Thirty” or the later
group that became the core of this settle-
ment at The Twenty in 1799 and 1800.

Within two years of the 1786 immi-
grants, Pennsylvania Mennonites began
to arrive in significant numbers from
both the Franconia and Lancaster settle-
ments, Christian Sevits (Zavits)(1750-
1826) came to the Sherkston area along
Lake Erie and apparently established
a mill. Within four years his parents,
Jacob (1728-1800) and Magdalene, two
brothers, Henry (1748-1810) and Jacob
(1752-1815), and their families came to
Bertie and Humberstone Townships.28
These families came from the Franco-
nia Mennonite communities north of
Philadelphia.

Other settlers began to arrive in
Pelham Township in the center of
the Niagara Peninsula. Three Winger
siblings—1John (c1750-1828), Mary
(c1755-c1808) and her husband. Jacob
Sider (1758-1825), and Anna (1759-
1832) and her husband Jacob Damude
(1758-1839) arrived in 1788, John
was already a River Brethren (Tunker)
minister, and probably leader of the
group, but he and his sisters were of
Mennonite heritage. Others with them
were Groh and Steckley families. River
Brethren Bishop Jacob Engle visited
the new Niagara settlement already
in 1789 and may have ordained John
Winger as the Bishop of the Canadian

: o e 9
Tunker community at this time.2? John

The townships of Welland County

Winger and Jacob Sider moved to Ber-
tie Township after 1792. Bertie Town-
ship became the core of a new Tunker
settlement that became more prominent
than the one in Pelham Tm’vnship.?’U

Also in 1788 the Abraham Beam
(c1723-1799), Christian Stoner (1752-
1835), Christian Knisely (1757-¢1836)
and Abraham Neff (c.1746-7) families
from York and Lancaster counties
arrived in Welland. These families
became the core of the later Retormed
Mennonite renewal. Like the Winger
clan, the Stoners, Knisely and Neff
families were interrelated. Christian
Stoner was married to Abraham Neft's
niece, Elizabeth (1760-1849) and
Christian Knisely was married to Chris-
tian Stoner’s sister.>! Abraham Beam
was the brother of United Brethren in
Christ founder, Martin Boehm.32 Other
Mennonite families who came from
Lancaster County to the Sherkston area
about the same time included Chris-
topher Culp and brothers Michael and
Caspar Sherch (Sherk).

By 1790 there were three Anabaptist
“settlements” on the Niagara Penin-
sula—the earliest in the area of “The
Thirty” (Clinton Township), the second
in Pelham Township (between Welland
and Fonthill) and a third scattered along
the Niagara River and Lake Erie shore
in Willoughby, Bertie, Humberstone
and Wainfleet Townships. These were
not “compact” settlements in any sense,
with the families in many cases spread
over substantial distances that would
have limited frequent contact.

Since only one of the settlements
had ordained religious leadership as




part of their migration, the Pelham
settlement ot Tunkers likely was first to
hold regular worship services, followed
by the Bertie Tunker community.

There were also two small Menno-
nite settlements in New York State on
the U.S. side of the Niagara River that
regularly intersected with Mennonites
in Niagara. These settlements were in
Erie County (Clarence/Williamsville)
and Wheatfield Township in Niagara
County (“The Falls” settlement).

The Mennonite communities in
Upper Canada were not seriously
disturbed by the renewal groups until
the 1830s, except for the attraction that
Tunkers held for isolated Mennonites in
Welland County. But during the 1830s
evangelistic efforts by the renewal
groups began in earnest, The Evangeli-
cal Association and United Brethren
were fully organized, and both denomi-
nations supported traveling ministers
similar to the Methodist circuit riders,
who visited any receptive communities
and had preaching services in homes,
schools, or if permitted in churches.
Converts would be baptized, but often
the fledgling group of new converts
would be too small to organize a con-
gregation. John Herr of the Reformed
Mennonites also began to travel far
beyond Lancaster County. He had
cousins in the Williamsville, NY area,
and by 1833 had established a thriving
congregation there. At the same time
he visited the Niagara Peninsula and
organized churches there.

The Evangelicals began systematic
missionary work among German-

speaking Protestants in Upper Canada
i the late 1830s. Their efforts in the
Niagara Peninsula soon made an impact
on the Mennonites of Welland County
as well as at “The Twenty” where there
was a major division at the end of the
1840s. The carliest Evangelical Associ-
ation congregation i Niagara emerged
near Stevensville in Welland County.

Willoughby & Bertie Townships

Willoughby Township was the loca-
tion of an interesting United Brethren
influence on the Mennonite and Tunker
communities. This centred on an
enigmatic minister named Jacob Miller
(1772-1841) who lived along the Ni-
agara River. By the 1820s he preached
in the “union” Riverside meeting-
house. Miller had immigrated to Upper
(Canada from Pennsylvania by 1804,
In Pennsylvania he had been a lay
minister in the United Brethren move-
ment, but probably had a Mennonite
background. In Canada he referred to
his group as “Mennonite.” A later local
historian, M.G. Sherk, said that Miller
called himself Mennonite in order to
obtain military exemption status. 33

Jacob Miller was married to Barbara
Hershey (1771-1840), a daughter of
John B. Hershey (1741-1811) who had
served for a short time as a Mennonite
minister near Harrisburg, PA, but by
1791 had become a United Brethren
minister in T\/I'alyland.S‘4

Even if Jacob Miller was Mennonite
by self-identification in Upper Canada,
he was very ecumenical and provided
a preaching location for visiting United

Brethren and Evan-

The Sherkston Church was the most long-lived “Old " Mennonite
church in Welland County. [t was sold to the Brethren in Christ in
1931, (Mennonite Archives of Ontario collection 1990-1.1)

gelical Association
ministers. Soon af-
ter the War of 1812
John Dreisbach,

a leader in the
Evangelical Asso-
ciation, visited two
uncles in Grimsby
and Ancaster, and
preached in the
Niagara Peninsula
as he had occa-
sion. His preach-
ing stops included
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the home of Jacob Miller, doubtless
the “Mennonite” minister.3> Christian
Newcomer, a United Brethren leader,
in a visit to Canada also mentions being
hosted by Jacob Miller, 30

Miller likely served as a “bridge”™ be-
tween the Mennonites and the renewal
groups. His Riverside church remained
open to Daniel Hoch after Hoch was
expelled from the Mennonite Confer-
ence of Ontario, and consequently the
renewal groups met with significant
success among the Mennonites in
Welland County.

The primary traditional Menno-
nite community in Bertie Township
that survived was at Sherkston. Jacob
Zavitz (Sevitz) had arrived in 1788,
and his sons, George (1781-1858) and
John (1798-1872) became leaders in
the Sherkston Mennonite community.
Bishop leadership for both Black Creek
(Riverside) and Sherkston was usually
provided by bishops from the U.S. side
of the Niagara River. For reasons that
are not clear, the churches in Welland
County did have a close relationship
with those in Lincoln County. After
Vineland-based bishop Jacob Moyer’s
death, bishop oversight in Welland
County did not come from the Lincoln
County.

John Herr made his first trip into
Canada in 1833, This was part of a
larger tour that also took him to Wil-
liamsville in Erie County, New York.
Herr’s uncle, Henry Herr, had moved to
Williamsville earlier, so John Herr had
numerous relatives in the Williamsville
area. The 1833 visit resulted in a num-
ber of converts, and the Williamsville
Reformed Mennonite congregation was
organized the following year with 21
members.3/

While John Herr organized a larger
Retormed Mennonite settlement in
Humberstone Township along Lake
Erie, a Reformed Mennonite group also
emerged in Bertie Township near Ste-
vensville. A log church, located west of
Stevensville, was built on land donated
by Benjamin Beam in 1828.38 Benja-
min Beam was the grandson of

~ Continued on page 6 ~
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immigrant Abraham Beam and
a great-nephew of United Brethren
founder, Martin Boehm. [ believe this
was likely a traditional Mennonite
meetinghouse prior to John Herr’s or-
ganization of the new group, but there
is not firm evidence of this.

Initially there were no ordained
Reformed Mennonite leaders stationed
at Stevensville: the ministers from
Humberstone Township and from Erie
County, NY, provided the necessary
leadership. Samuel Beam was the first
minister ordained for this field and
Jacob Young the first deacon. Samuel
Beam was also a grandson of Abraham
Beam.

Bishop John Seybert of the Evan-
gelical Association, who visited Upper
Canada in the late 1830s, had an
interesting comment about the Tunkers,
Mennonite and Reformed Mennonite
communities he would have encoun-
tered:

Many of them endeavored to
lead a quiet, virtuous, peaceable
life. But as regards the spiritual
life that comes from God, the
new birth and the renewal of the
heart by the Holy Ghost. they
are generally ignorant, knowing
nothing of the blessedness of true
godliness... Among the New [Re-
formed] Mennonites some may
have had a religious heart experi-
ence, but they were very egotisti-
cal and separated from all other
good men and could, therefore, do
nothing for the improvement of
the German people of Upper Can-
ada, hence there was no improve-
ment in the general condition of
these unfortunate people.E’9

This of course reflected John

Herr’s refusal to fellowship with other
Christian groups, even those who had
experienced a measure of “awaken-
ing.” The exclusive nature of Reformed
Mennonite theology would have made
the division within the local Mennonite
community very difficult, especially

for a community that had experienced
traditional ecumenical cooperation with
other groups.

The Evangelical Association be-
gan its own deliberate visits to Upper
Canada in 1836, Wilhelm Orwig, an
Evangelical Association leader writing
some twenty years later, said:

In several regions of that prov-
ince of the English empire lived a
great many Germans who, for the
most part, had emigrated thither
from Pennsylvania, and were, in a
religious point of view. in a very
neglected condition, having either
no preacher at all, or only such as
were not worthy of the name of
an evangelical pt'eachel'.4O

J.G. Zinser first visited Upper
Canada. and preached in the homes
of Mennonites Martin and Christian
Shaub near Black Creek. Michael Eis
also began regular preaching visits to
Black Creek and Stevensville by 1838.
By 1839 the Evangelical Association
had agreed to establish four missions in
Upper Canada — two at Berlin, Ontario
and two at Black Creek 4!

After the first year of the mission at
Black Creek, Michael Eis reported:

... [TThe religious condition of
these people in general is indeed
wretched. Their religion mostly
consists in the observance of
some rites and plain dress. Yet |
can say, that a great change has
already taken place, and many
begin to inquire what they must
do to be saved: and already some
profess to have found peace with
God.#2

The mission at Black Creek was so
successful that by the end of 1839 1t
had been changed to a regular “circuit”
with a membership of 8443

In Pennsylvania the United Brethren
made greater inroads into the Men-
nonite communities. By contrast, in
Upper Canada greater influence came
from the Evangelical Association.

This was primarily because the Evan-

gelicals approached their mission in
Upper Canada systematically, and put
church structures into place at an early
date. Although United Brethren circuit
preachers had traveled through Upper
Canada on numerous occasions, they
did not establish a structure to nurture
the new converts. Thus congregations
identified as United Brethren in Niagara
did not come until after the period of
this study, although United Brethren
theological influence was marked
through the ministry of Jacob Miller
and the visits of itinerant United Breth-
ren ministers.

Thus the Mennonites in Willoughby
and Bertie Townships were divided into
three factions by the end of the 1830s—
earlier than the churches at “The
Twenty.” Significant numbers joined
the Reformed Mennonite renewal, and
another faction was attracted to the
Evangelical Association. As happens
in any such division, this likely meant
another portion simply withdrew from
the difficult circumstances and partici-
pated very nominally in the church, or
fellowshipped with another Protestant
church nearby. Then there were the
active Tunker congregations that would
have provided a home for many of their
Mennonite Anabaptist cousins. This left
only one traditional Mennonite church
in Bertie Township—the one located at
Sherkston.

Humberstone Township

Humberstone Township was the
early home of the Neft, Knisely and
Stoner families that came from Lan-
caster County about 1788. Other
Mennonite family names here included
Zavitz, Kinsy, Zimmerman, Hershey
and Sherk.

That this community had an ac-
tive Mennonite fellowship is clear
from Bishop Jacob Moyer’s Bible that
mentions a council meeting in 1819 at
Sugar Loaf (Humberstone) held on suc-
cessive days at Christian Kneislis, Mi-
chael Sherks and John Wengers. This
suggests there was no meetinghouse in
place at the time. There are a number of
traditions that suggest the early Men-
nonites initially may have worshipped




The Reformed Mennonite Church at Stevensville was built in
1872 and is still in use.

in schools or union meetinghouses,
but there is not firm evidence of this.
Even more puzzling is our inability to
identify ordained Mennonite ministers
in the Humberstone/Wainfleet area.

Several possibilities come to mind—
the most likely is that an existing
Mennonite congregation in Humber-
stone was almost completely converted
by John Herr and simply became a
Reformed Mennonite congregation in
the mid-1830s. Brothers John Stoner
(1780-1861) and Abraham Stoner
(1796-1848) (sons of immigrant Chris-
tian Stoner) were early ministers in the
Reformed Mennonite congregation at
Humberstone. Is it possible one of them
had been a minister in an earlier tradi-
tional Mennonite congregation? John
Stoner was “relieved” as a minister in
the Reformed Mennonite congregation
about 1841, though this could have oc-
curred for a number of reasons. +4

Summary

Unlike Waterloo, on the Niagara
Peninsula, the Mennonites in Welland
County were never a compact com-
munity. Land was purchased as it was
available from Loyalists who did not
want to farm the land grants they had
received. Mennonites were quickly
interspersed with English-speaking
neighbors. The diversity within the
community was great. Travel between
the Mennonite settlements in the Pen-
insula was not easy, and the dispersed
Welland County Mennonite commu-
nities were not frequently reinforced
through interaction with the Mennonite
folks at “The Twenty.”

The enigma of the Re-
formed Mennonites con-
tinues to need analysis
in the absence of good
church records. (There
are not good church re-
cords, because Reformed
Mennonites on principle
did not keep membership
lists.) Where Reformed
Mennonite founder, John
Herr, traveled he man-
aged to establish thriving
congregations,

The attraction of a
warm conversion experience combined
with a certainty of personal salvation
attracted many Mennonites in Niagara.
Another series of divisions a genera-
tion later underscored this attraction.
Only after a significant minority of
Mennonites left to form the Old Order
Mennonites in the 1880s/1890s, did the
Mennonite majority embrace the reviy-
alism and assurance of salvation it had
resisted for so long. By then it was too
late to revive the Welland Mennonite
community.
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When Mennonite farmers want to
leave their horse-and-buggy sheltered
from the elements while they do er-
rands in Elmira, they can still use the
Elmira Farmers® Shed. The steel shed
of today is adjacent to the municipal
parking lot just west of the main street
in Elmira.

The Elmira Farmer’s Shed has a
long history. At the turn of the 20th
century, hotel accommodation included
stables for farmers’ and travellers’
horses. John Studdick, proprietor of
the Floradale Hotel, advertised, “Good
stabling. Good Livery in connection”
in the 1899 Elmira newspapers. Ads
for the Zilliax House in Elmira boasted,
“The best accommodation for the trav-
elling public. Good meals at all hours.
Large Stables. An attentive hostler
always at hand.”

In 1920, the Elmira Signet reported
that there were 139 288 motor vehicles
owned in Ontario. ! Garages to service

Elmira Farmers’ Shed

By Marion Roes

the automobiles were being built and
in some cases were remodelled from
former stables and liveries. In general,
the need for public stables had dimin-

ished. Not so in Elmira. A large number

of farmers, Mennonite and non-Men-
nonite, regularly brought their produce
and trade to this community, especially
for the monthly Pig Fair. When C. W.
Quickfall purchased the Zilliax hotel
barn on Church Street West in early
1920, he promised to “leave the shed
open as long as possible for the accom-
modation of our farmers.” However,
the need for a replacement was inevi-
table. A committee was formed and
members called a meeting for January
24, 1920. Farmers who made Elmira
their marketing centre attended.

The Elmira Signet reported that:

Elmira has of late years had a
steady growth. It has an industrial
population that requires a larger

supply of natural products. Hence
a larger number of farmers bring
in their produce and trade in this
community.... This is a question
affecting both the farmer and our
citizenry. In the matter of shed ac-
commodation Miss Elmira needs
a new overcoat....It was agreed
that the supplying of ample
driving shed accommodation in
Elmira—a neighborhood ques-
tion—in which Elmira is as fully
concerned as are the farmers; and
that the two parties most directly
interested can best solve it by to-
gether undertaking the provision
of the desired shelter.?

At the meeting, 25 to 30 farmers
heard that a sub committee had already
looked at Linwood’s metal clad skating
rink building, which was for sale, but
decided it would be too expensive to

~ Continued on page 1) ~
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dismantle, move and rebuild. Henry
Klinck and George Miller were ap-
pointed to meet with town council
and ask for assistance. Council heard
the representatives on January 27 and
appointed a committee consisting of
Messrs. Winger, Allgeier and Small to
meet with the farmers” committee and
make a decision.

Joint Stock Company

On February 14, 1920, 40 persons
elected Henry Klinck to be chairman of
the meeting and Henry B. Eix secre-
tary. A committee had viewed available
sites and selected the one to the rear
of the Genz and Hahn properties on
Arthur Street, recently purchased by
Mr. G. O. Wahl.3 Mr. Wahl agreed to
sell 105 feet at the rear of the property
and a right-of-way 16 feet wide on the
south side of the former Hahn property
at the price of $1,000. If a right-of-way
was wanted on the north side, the cost
would be $1.,300.

The plans were to crect a closed shed
180 x 57 feet and 28 feet high with an
open shed on the south side 180 x 25
feet. Together they would accommo-
date 90 teams, or motor cars, figuring
six feet to a team. The cost would be
$7,148, not including the land.

Councillor Allgeier reported that Mr.
Winger already had subscriptions from
local business men for $450 and hoped
to raise it to $500 or more. Speaking
on behalf of the Elmira council, Mr.
Allgeier said that “while the Council
could not give a driving shed company
exemption from taxation, it was ready
to give it a low assessment. And further
it would, had it been legal to do so,
make a grant toward building a shed.™
A few men favored an open shed, but
the motion to “build a shed on the Wahl
property as proposed was passed.” The
driveway was to be on the south side
and 18 feet wide.

The Farmer’s Co-operative Driv-
ingshed Limited was the approved
name of the joint stock company.
Shares were to be §25 each with a

limit of four to one person. Provisional
directors and officers elected were:
Benjamin Brubacher (president), Henry
Klinck (secretary-treasurer), John
Geisel, Adam Mattusch and David
Brubacher.

Elmira Monthly Fair

The Elmira Monthly Fair (Pig
Day) is unique, [in] that it is the
only one of its kind in the Do-
minion of Canada. Established in
1863, it is held the first Monday
before the second Tuesday of
each month, rain or shine. Auc-
tion centres are the Steddick Hotel
and the front of the Farmers’
Shed. Mennonite farmers and oth-
ers come from the communities of
three townships, with from 600 to
700 horses and buggies and cars,
making the day more of a

be removed and the shed re-built from
the foundation up.”S

Serendipitously, the annual meeting
of the shareholders had been scheduled
for that Saturday morning. Directors
elected by 160 sharcholders present
were: [srael Bearinger, Anson Ging-
rich, Cyrus Bowman, Enos M. Martin
and Josiah G. Martin. The shed was
insured against loss by fire and wind
only. After a great deal of discussion,
it was decided that a joint meeting was
needed with the directors of the Farm-
ers’ Driving Shed of Elmira Ltd., the
Planning Board of the Elmira Planning
Area, the Elmira Town Council and
building Inspector Norman Hipel. At
this meeting, held on February 5, 1952,
“Everyone agreed that shed accom-
modation was a necessity in Elmira and
should be provided without delay."9
Discussion included repairing the shed

community get—together.6

Sheep, cows, dogs and
little pigs were traded or sold
at the monthly fairs as well
as anything second hand or
homemade: furniture, farm
implements, harnesses. Until
sometime in the 1930s, Fair
day business transactions—
except pig sales—took place
in front of Ruppel’s store at
Church and Arthur Streets. It
had become a traffic hazard
but police weren't able to
disperse the crowd. Perhaps
it was then that one of the
auctioneers set up in front
of the tarmers’ shed. Other
auctioneers followed and the
old custom was finally changed.7

Shed collapses

Early Saturday morning, on January
26, 1952, the Elmira Farmers® Shed
collapsed under tons of wet snow. From
January 31 to March 13 that year the
Elmira Signet reported on the collapse
and the building “bee” for the new
driving shed. Although it was the centre
section which collapsed, “the standing
end sections of the shed...will have to

The Elmira Farmers ' Shed replaced hotel livery stables
such as these (left) at the Zilliax Hotel in Elmira about
1910. (Mennonite Archives of Ontario collection —
Digital 122)

and using salvaged material, however
“since the shed was a public building,
repair plans would have to be prepared
by an architect and submitted to the
department of labor for approval before
the local building inspector could issue
a permit.” 10 1¢ rebuilding was re-
quired, it would be more costly.

In the meantime, up to 40 farmers at
a time worked at clearing twisted and
broken arches, framework and metal
roofing from the site. When it was de




cided that a new shed would be built
on the existing toundation, another
group of farmers, mostly Mennonite,
took down the end sections.

On Wednesday, Thursday and
Friday, [March 5, 6, 7] the gang
swelled to 80 amateur carpenters
who prefabricated the nine trusses
on the ice-covered ground, laid the
wood “plate” on the foundation
walls, cut the inter-truss bracing to
required length and made other prep-
arations for Saturday’s mising.l !

On Saturday, March 8, 240 area farm-
ers held a traditional “bee™ and raised
nine main trusses for a new building on
the foundation of the old one. The first
one was hoisted at 9:45 a.m. and the last
went up in the early afternoon. Trusses,
made of laminated wood and weighing
about two tons each, were shoved into
position with long, spiked poles. Clay-
ton Martin of Floradale had the contract
and the only others paid were carpenters
Amon Bowman, RR 1, Wallenstein
and Amos Martin, Floradale. Bowman
proved to be “an expert in organizing
and directing the labor force.”

Net cost of the new structure, which
had a gable roof lower than the previ-
ous shed, was expected to be $8,000.
The company planned to pay for it
through the sale of additional stock
and hoped-for cash donations. Enos M.
Martin, company president, expressed
heartfelt appreciation;

The directors and officers of the
Farmer’s Driving Shed of Elmira Ltd.,
and all the farmers who regularly trade
in Elmira, sincerely appreciate the co-
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operation they have received in
town during the past few weeks.
We have felt that the people of
Elmira were really anxious to
help us. We especially appreci-
ate the generous donations we
are receiving from merchants
and businessmen. Without all
this help we ourselves couldn’t
have replaced the very necessary
farmers® shed. !

Annual Meetings
The Elmira Fair Dealer re-
ported the 420d annual meeting
of the Elmira Farmer’s Driving
Shed in 1962:

When the shed collapsed under the weight of heavy
snow in 1952, it was rebuilt with a “shed-raising " bee.
Re-elected were: Enos M. (Mennonites Archives of Ontario collection — David

Martin, R.R. 1, Elmira, presi-  Aunsberger 955)

dent; Ephriam L. Martin,
Drayton, R.R. 2. secretary-
treasurer; Josiah G. Martin. Wal-
lenstein, R.R. 2, vice-president;
Cyrus Bowman, Elmira, R.R. 3, Most of the present directors

and Moses Eby, Elmira, directors. have been in office for about 10
years....The shed is believed to be

one of three of its kind in Ontario.

The financial report of the 431d gp.
nual meeting in 1963 was similar;

The business was reported to The other two are in Waterloo and
have a total income for the year St. Jacobs. The Elmira shed is un-
of $2,032. The price of all-day der the supervision of a caretaker,
accommodation for horse-drawn who is Elam Gingrich of Elmira.
vehicles had remained at the his- One of Elmira’s senior citizens,
toric price of 10 cents—"the only Mr. Henry Klinck, was treasurer
thing in life which hasn’t increased of the company for 30 years. The
in cost through the years,” as one prices for accommodation have
member remarked. remained unchanged through the

years. These charges are 10 cents
for a horse in the shed, 25 cents
for all-day stabling, plus feed,
when horses arec unhitched.

The capital of the business was
placed at S11,175, representing a
total of 447 shares issued. !

The shed continues to be busy
with as many as 50 to 60 buggies
on the premises at one time. The
traditional purposes of the build-
mg have also been maintained.
These are to provide accommoda-
tion for horses, and for farmers to
keep warm and meet their neigh-
bours. “It is also a place where a
lot of news gets spread around,”
remarked a member.

Today the Elmira Farmers' Shed is made of steel. (Photo by Marion Roes)

~ Continued on page 12 ~
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The farmers’ shed warrants almost a
full page of description in the 1973 re-
union book for the 50th anniversary of
Elmira. Information is mostly anecdotal
but indicates the importance of the shed
to the community:

The doors of the Farmers™ Shed
stand wide open as they do all the
time except for several occasions
during the year when damage by
pranksters is feared. The manager of
the Shed is James Ertel and he is ea-
ger to point out that he is the “boss.”
The rates are very modest with
a day’s board amounting to only
thirty-five cents... Sunday the shed
is closed. There are fifty-five season
ticket holders who may come from
as far away as Conestogo, Erbsville,
Linwood, St Jacobs, Winterbourne
and Wallenstein. Mr. Ertel knows
every one of these men. 1>

Owver 40 years later, in 1998, the
shed was once again destroyed, this
time by fire and under suspicious cir-
cumstances. Once again a shed-raising
bee was organized in the Mennonite
community, but this time the building
was made of steel.

Today the Elmira Farmers” Shed is
still run by a five-man board appointed
by the various farmers who own the
shares. The doors are still always open;

a carctaker cleans the shed moming and
evening and the office and washrooms
are locked up overnight. The rates, either
daily or yearly, are still modest but cover
the cost of taxes and upkeep. Today the
Elmira Farmers’ Shed is probably the
only one of its kind in the province.
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Alsace ancestors

Alfred Kleitz is researching
families who emigrated from
Dettwiller, Alsace, to Ontario.
He would like to update his
information and will give
details he has found if you
contact him at alfred kleitz(@
wanado.ft.

Please write to him in
French if you can, or he will
have your message translated.
Alfred will send a 16-page
chart of immigrants with their
families. Marion Roes has the
chart as an e-mail attachment
and will forward it on request
(mlroes(@sympatico.ca).

Catharine Rittenhouse Coverlet discovered

By Larry Rittenhouse

One of the few Rittenhouse
ancestors that Larry Rittenhouse
had very little information on was
his great-grand aunt, Catharine
Rittenhouse (1838-1872), older sister
of Moses F. Rittenhouse and Larry’s
grcat-grandfather, Rev. Abraham F.
Rittenhouse.

All he knew was her birth and
death dates and that she had been
married to Jacob Swartz. There were
no photographs or a family Bible. Very
little is known about her husband,
either. Catharine died young at the age
of 34 years and is buried in the Vineland
Old Mennonite cemetery. They had no
children and no records have been found
on Jacob’s later life, but we believe he
remarried at least once.

It was certainly a very pleasant
surprise when Jane and Gil Pether
of Port Elgin visited the Jordan

Museum in September, 2005 with a
beautiful black and white (summer/
winter) reversible coverlet, originally
belonging to Catharine. It has her name
in full, on a corner with the date, 1857.
After a lot of research, it still is not
known how the coverlet ended up in a
Pether family blanket box. The family
originally lived in the Beamsville

area and have connections with the
Simpkins, Masales, Hendershot,
MecCallum, Ball and Swackhammer
families.

Based on similar designs on a
Christina Rittenhouse 1870 coverlet
and a Garner 1860 coverlet, it is almost
certainly a coverlet woven by Moses
Grobb, Catharine’s uncle and was
likely made for her trousseau.

It is hoped that the Pethers will
donate the coverlet to the Jordan
Museum collection in the near future.




